STATE OF WASHINGTON BY C DEPUTY

DIVISION II, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LYONS ENTERPRISES, INC., d/b/a JAN-PRO CLEANING SYSTEMS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ryan P. McBride WSBA No. 33280 Attorney for Lyons Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a Jan-Pro Cleaning Systems

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Ave, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, WA. 98111-1302 Telephone: 206.223.7000 Facsimile: 206.223.7107

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

Lyons Enterprises, Inc., d/b/a Jan-Pro Cleaning Systems (Lyons) respectfully asks this Court to accept review and reverse aspects of the court of appeals' published opinion (Opinion). This case raises novel, important and wide-reaching issues regarding whether and to what extent independent franchisees can be considered a franchisor's "worker" for purposes of the Industrial Insurance Act (IIA). As the court of appeals aptly recognized, "[t]his case is highly complex, involving the intersection of detailed statutes with somewhat confused common law." Op. at 21. Review is necessary to bring clarity to that confused law, and to reject the approach taken by the Department of Labor & Industries (Department), the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board), and the courts below that the IIA reaches traditional franchisor-franchisee relationships.

The court of appeals' unprecedented application of the IIA to independent franchisees will have a crippling impact on Lyons and other franchise businesses throughout the State. Unless reversed, franchisors in all service-related industries (not just commercial cleaning) will be required to pay IIA premiums for many of their franchisees—even though the franchisees, as sole proprietors or LLCs, are nominally exempt from IIA coverage. Many franchisors will be unable to absorb this significant expense; and if franchisors are forced out of business, then so too will many franchisees who depend on the franchise for their own business success. By no small measure, this Court's review is necessary to ensure the continued viability of the franchise-model in Washington.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lyons seeks review of the court of appeals' opinion, which it ordered published on March 31, 2015. The Opinion partially affirmed and partially reversed the trial court's ruling in an APA review of the Board's decision and order. The court of appeals affirmed the Board's conclusion that, as a general matter, Lyons' independent franchisees are covered "workers" under RCW 51.08.180. Op. at 9-10. The court also affirmed the Board's conclusion that the franchisees did not satisfy RCW 51.08.195's exception to "worker" status. *Id.* at 14-16. Finally, the court held that under *White v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 48 Wn.2d 470, 294 P.2d 650 (1956), any franchisee who employs "subordinates" to do the work is exempt from IIA coverage, and it remanded for further fact finding on the issue. Op. at 10-14, 16-17. The Opinion is attached as an Appendix.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. An independent contractor is a "worker" under the IIA only if the "essence" of the independent contract is "personal labor." RCW 51.08.180. A franchise agreement is a highly regulated contract between two separate businesses by which a franchisor agrees to license property

rights and provide services to a franchisee and, in return, the franchisee agrees to pay royalties and fees to the franchisor. The essence of such a contract is the franchise itself. Does the essence of a franchise agreement morph to mere "personal labor," however, whenever the franchise happens to involve the sale of services, as opposed to goods?

2. In *White v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 48 Wn.2d 470, 474, 294 P.2d 650 (1956), this Court held that RCW 51.08.180 did not include "an independent contractor … who of necessity or choice employs others to do all or part of the work he has contracted to perform." Does this judicially created carve-out (*White's* "third prong") apply only when the independent contractor actually uses others to do the work, or does it apply whenever the contract expressly permits the contractor to delegate the work and the parties contemplate that he or she may do so?

3. The Opinion (erroneously) holds that *White's* third prong applies to contractors who actually "employ subordinates" to do the work. Op. at 13-14. If that holding is correct, is *White's* third prong limited to only those independent contractors who hire traditional employees to perform the contract, or does it apply to all independent contractors who have used subordinates of any kind to assist in the work?

4. If an independent contractor is a "worker," he or she is still exempt from IIA coverage if RCW 51.08.195's six-part test is satisfied.

a) The first test requires the contractor to be "free from control ... over the performance of the service." By law, however, a valid franchise requires the franchisor to establish and police uniform standards governing aspects of a franchisee's business, including "sales techniques," "training" or "operational, managerial, technical, or financial guidelines." RCW 19.100.010(11). Do these types of non-supervisory standards, which are hallmarks of any valid franchise, preclude a franchisee from ever showing that it is "free from control"?

b) The third test requires the contractor to be "customarily engaged in an independently established ... business." Because a valid franchise involves use of the franchisor's proprietary marks and methods, many franchise agreements prohibit the franchisee from offering competing goods or services during and after the term of the franchise. Do such noncompete agreements preclude a franchisee from ever showing that it is an "independently established ... business"?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Opinion contains a relatively neutral, albeit concise, recitation of the facts and procedural history of the case, which Lyons incorporates herein. Op. at 2-6. For purposes of this Petition, however, the following undisputed facts are perhaps the most important. Lyons is a regional franchisor for Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc. (Jan-Pro). Lyons is

-

in the business of selling Jan-Pro franchises to unit franchisees who, in turn, use the Jan-Pro brand and proprietary methods to operate a commercial cleaning business. Lyons is a franchisor in good standing, and the Department of Financial Institutions (DFI) has reviewed and confirmed that Lyons' franchise agreements comply with Washington's Franchise Investment Protection Act (FIPA), RCW 19.100 *et seq.*

The franchisees look nothing like employees or "workers." They are independent businesses who operate for their own benefit — not Lyons' benefit. The franchisees make a substantial financial investment in their businesses; they have their own business licenses; they have their own insurance; they maintain their own books; they pay their own taxes; they purchase their own supplies; they can enlist new customer accounts and reject existing ones; they can sell or transfer their business; and their franchise agreements can only be terminated for cause. Unlike a salaried worker, it is the franchisees who pay royalties and fees to Lyons (not the other way around), and who bear the risk of loss if a customer fails to pay.

Likewise, the franchisees make all decisions regarding the day-today operation of their businesses. Franchisees decide when, how and who does the work. The franchise agreement specifically permits franchisees to hire their own employees to do the work and, when they do, the franchisees are responsible for training and paying them. About 80% of

-

the franchisees use employees or assistants to help with the work. Lyons does not supervise the franchisees or their subordinates, and is not on-site when they do their work. Rather, Lyons conducts periodic follow-ups with the customers to ensure the franchisees' compliance with the franchise agreement — something it must do to protect the Jan-Pro brand.

The tortured procedural history of this case reveals the uneasy application of the IIA to franchises. When the Department audited Lyons in 2005, it determined that none of Lyons' franchisees were workers. Five years later, although nothing had changed, the Department determined that all the same franchisees were workers. The Board's own IAJ rejected that position, only to be reversed by the Board itself. The trial court then reversed the Board in part, resuscitating the Department's view that all the franchisees were workers. Sure enough, the court of appeals reversed in part yet again. As it now stands, Lyons' franchisees are "workers" unless they use "subordinates" to help do the work.

IV. ARGUMENT

The Opinion raises issues of substantial public interest and conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the court of appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4). Resolution of these issues by this Court is necessary to determine whether and how the IIA applies to franchised businesses.

A. The "Essence" Of A Franchise Agreement Is Not "Personal Labor" Even If The Franchise Involves The Sale Of Services.

Until now, the Department respected the distinct nature of the franchisor-franchisee relationship, and it never sought to apply the IIA to franchises. There are no Board determinations or case law on the issue. Lyons is the first. The court of appeals' decision on this novel and significant issue is wrong and, unless reversed, will have drastic effects on smaller franchises throughout Washington who cannot afford to pay IIA premiums for the independent franchisees with whom they contract. This Court should accept review and restore the proper scope of the IIA.

An independent contractor is a "worker" only if the "essence" of the contract is "personal labor." RCW 51.08.180. The term "essence" denotes more than that the independent contract *involves* labor; the contractor's personal labor must be "the vital *sine qua non*, the very heart and soul of his contract." *Haller v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 13 Wn.2d 164, 168, 124 P.2d 559 (1942). To discern the essence of an independent contract, courts "look to the contract itself, the work, the parties' situation, and other concomitant circumstances." *Silliman v. Argus Servs., Inc.*, 105 Wn. App. 232, 236-37, 19 P.3d 428 (2001). Ultimately, it is the "realities of the situation" that matters. *Peter M. Black Real Estate Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 70 Wn. App. 482, 488, 854 P.2d 46 (1993).

•

The Opinion ignores the "realities" and, indeed, ignores the very nature of a franchise. The court of appeals' focused entirely on the "cleaning contracts," noting that these contracts required the franchisee's "labor" to clean the customer's facility. Op. at 10. But that is the wrong contract. The proper focus of RCW 51.08.180's "essence" test is the franchise agreements between Lyons and the franchisees, not the cleaning contracts between Lyons and the customers. The "heart and soul" of the franchise agreements is not labor and, as discussed below, certainly not the franchisees' "personal" labor. The essence of the agreement is the reciprocal obligations inherent in a franchise between two separate and independent businesses — and those obligations are defined not with reference to the franchisees' labor, but the requirements of FIPA.

A franchise offers significant advantages to both franchisors and franchisees. Franchising gives a franchisee a chance to own and operate a business with no experience because he or she can use and benefit from the franchisor's brand, training and support. The franchisor, on the other hand, can expand its brand through the capital and entrepreneurial efforts of its independent franchisees. Chisum, *State Regulation of Franchising; The Washington Experience*, 48 Wash. L. Rev. 291, 296 (1973) ("the franchisee ... gains access to an established brand name, tested marketing techniques, advertising and training aids. More importantly, the franchisee

remains ... an independent businessman."). This "essence" of a franchise is precisely the same whether the franchise involves goods or services.

FIPA governs all aspects of franchising in Washington, and it too makes no distinction between franchises involving goods or services. Under FIPA, a valid franchise agreement must include these requirements: (i) the franchisee is granted a right to sell goods or services under a "marketing plan" governing aspects of the franchisee's business, (ii) the business is substantially associated with a trademark, service mark, or the like owned by the franchisor, and (iii) the franchisee pays the franchisor a franchise fee. RCW 19.100.010(6). In addition, FIPA (and federal law) requires significant pre-sale disclosures that must be registered with DFI, RCW 19.100.040 & .080(1), and confers franchisees with extensive rights and protections, RCW 19.100.180. In short, selling franchises is heavily regulated and costly, and not an artifice to avoid paying IIA premiums.

This Court should accept review and reject the Department's superficial position, which the court of appeals adopted, that the "essence" of a franchise agreement turns on whether it grants a franchisee the right to sell services, as opposed to goods. CP 2271 (Q: ... you indicated that the essence of the contract between [McDonald's] and the franchisees was ... a hamburger, correct? A. Yes."). That position not only ignores the franchisees' status as independent businesses, but it creates the absurd

result that franchisees who offer "services" are always "workers," whereas franchisees who offer "goods" are not.¹ It simply should not matter whether a customer walks away with a hamburger, a completed tax return, a starched shirt or a clean facility; for all franchises, the essence of the franchise agreement is the creation of a regulated and mutually beneficial franchise relationship between two businesses, not "personal labor."

Indeed, any distinction between franchises that sell "services" and those that sell "goods" is artificial, and creates uncertainty for franchisors. Most franchises that ostensibly sell "goods" actually provide both goods and services, and many of these franchises impose far more "control" over the franchisee's operations than Jan-Pro and other "service" franchises. If the "realities of the situation" truly mattered, there should be no distinction among franchises for purposes of "worker" status. As it stands, and especially for franchises defying easy classification (*e.g.*, custom closet installation; hotels; car rental), franchisors are left to guess where the Department will draw the line. This Court should accept review and draw the line where it belongs: franchise business owners are not "workers."

This view is entirely consistent with the IIA's purpose. While the legislature expanded the IIA to include independent contractors who share

¹ That is what Department told the trial court. *See* 2/7/13 Hr. at 49:2-10 (Judge: "So is it the Department's position that all franchises that are franchises for personal service [are] covered under this Act?" AAG: "Yes.").

the traits of employees, it also determined that not all individuals who provide services must be covered. In particular, while business owners cannot exempt their employees from the IIA system, the owners themselves are automatically exempt—even if they are the ones who perform the work. This exemption includes sole proprietors, partners, certain corporate officers and members of LLCs. *See* RCW 51.12.020(5) & (8). To receive IIA coverage, these exempt individuals must choose to affirmatively opt into the system. RCW 51.12.110; RCW 51.32.030.

Most of Lyons' franchisees are sole proprietors; those that aren't are limited liability companies. And at least until now, the Department has recognized that, as separate entities, the franchisees fall within RCW 51.12.020's exemption. Some have chosen to remain exempt from the IIA; others have elected to opt in. CP 1947 (9/7/11 Tr. at 57). Regardless, if a franchisee hires its own employees, which they can and often do (*see below*), then coverage for those employees is mandatory—and it is the franchisee's obligation, not Lyons', to pay the IIA premiums for those workers. CP 1974, 1992, 2028-29 (9/7/11 Tr. at 84, 102, 138-39).

That is precisely the result the legislature intended. The only ones without coverage are those franchisees who elect not to opt into the IIA system. The IIA affords the franchisees that choice because the legislature recognized that, unlike "workers," sole proprietors and other small business owners should retain the economic freedom to choose what is best for them and their businesses, including opting out of IIA system in favor of private insurance or self-insurance. That sensible policy should not be ignored where that small business owner wants or needs a franchise to succeed. To focus solely on the product the franchise sells, *i.e.*, a "service," ignores the true "essence" of the parties' franchise agreement and the independent nature of the franchisees' businesses.

B. White Remains Good Law, But Its Third Prong Applies Whenever The Parties Contemplate That The Independent Contractor Can Delegate The Work To Others.

In White v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 48 Wn.2d 470, 474, 294 P.2d

650 (1956), this Court identified three types of contractors who are not "workers" within the meaning of RCW 51.08.180. *White's* "third prong" excludes any contractor "who of necessity or choice employs others to do all or part of the work he has contracted to perform." *Id.* at 747. The Opinion recognized that *White* remains good law, but refused to apply its third prong to all of Lyons' franchisees. Op. at 10-14. This Court should accept review and clarify that *White*'s third prong applies whenever a contract permits the contractor to delegate the work to others, even if it never does so. In such cases, the labor is not "personal" to the contractor.

IIA coverage applies if the essence of the independent contract is the contractor's "personal labor." RCW 51.08.180. This Court has long-

recognized that "personal" has specific meaning: "given their common, every-day meaning, they signify that, to come within the definition ..., an independent contractor must be one whose *own personal labor*, that is to say, the work which *he* is to do *personally*, is the *essence* of the *contract*." *Haller*, 13 Wn.2d at 168 (emphasis in original). It is not enough that the contract involves someone's labor. "Personal labor means labor personal to the independent contractor." *Silliman*, 105 Wn. App. at 238. Thus, any contract that "contemplate[s] a specific type of labor, [but] not a specific laborer," necessarily falls outside the scope RCW 51.08.180. *Id*.

Each of *White*'s three prongs reflect this reasoning, and why the third prong cannot be read to exempt only those independent contractors who actually employ others to do the work. As the courts and the Board have recognized, it is enough that "the contracting parties *contemplate* that the labor will be done by others." *Mass. Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 51 Wn. App. 159, 164-65, 752 P.2d 381 (1988) (emphasis added); *Silliman*, 105 Wn. App. at 238 (same); *In re Rainbow Int'l*, BIIA No. 882,664, 1990 WL 304362, *2, 6 (1990) (even though only 50% of the contractors used helpers, *White's* third prong applied to all because they had "authority to hire helpers to assist them in their duties" and the employer "was aware of the practice and did nothing to discourage it").

This makes sense. The legislature defined "workers" with specific reference to "personal labor" to bring within the IIA's scope only those independent contractors who are indistinguishable from employees. *See White*, 48 Wn.2d at 474. Where an employer hires an independent contractor with the expectation that he or she *personally* will do the work, like the hiring of a particular employee, the essence of the contract is "personal labor." But where the employer contracts with an independent contractor who, in turn, has discretion to delegate the work to others, the essence of the contract is not "personal" to anyone. The first type of independent contractor is a "worker"; the second is not.

This Court should accept review, confirm the vitality of *White*, and clarify that its third prong exempts any independent contract that permits the contractor to delegate performance of the contract to others. Contrary to *White* and subsequent case law (with which it arguably conflicts), the Opinion effectively reads the word "personal" out of RCW 51.08.180. It also will lead to the absurd result that one contractor is a "worker" under the IIA, while another is not, even though both contractors sign identical independent contracts with the same employer for the same work. Here, again, the "essence" of both contracts is precisely the same and so should the IIA's scope. Put simply, the essence of an independent contract cannot be "personal labor" if the employer does not care whose labor it is.

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