RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 25, 2015, 11:33 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



NO. 91610-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent,

v.

LYONS ENTERPRISES, INC. d/b/a JAN-PRO CLEANING SYSTEMS,

Petitioner.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 29737 Office Id. No. 90122 P.O. Box 40121 7141 Cleanwater Dr. SW Olympia, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7715

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Lyons demonstrates no basis for this Court's review. No issue of substantial public interest is raised by the routine application of the well-established principle that it is not the label of the business relationship that controls; it is the nature of the work performed.

Lyons also shows no conflict with the decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Contrary to Lyons's arguments, *White* did not hold that the fact that an independent contractor had the right to use another to perform the work under a contract defeats coverage regardless of whether the independent contractor actually used another to perform the work or not. *White* instead held to the contrary. *White*, 48 Wn.2d at 472-74.

Nor is there any reason to question the Court of Appeals' holding under RCW 51.08.195, which construes the plain language of the statute to mean that if there is control over the worker, the employer is not exempt. Lyons's argument amounts to a request that that statute be amended to comport with Lyons's notions of what is in the public interest, which is a request best directed to the Legislature. This Court should deny Lyons's petition for review.

A. Focusing on the Work Performed Under the Contract Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Because an Independent Contractor is Covered Whenever the Essence of the Work Under the Contract Is Personal Labor

Lyons, like any other business that uses independent contractors to perform labor, is responsible to pay premiums for the franchisees who perform work for it if the essence of the work that is performed is the franchisee's personal labor. See RCW 51.08.180; White, 48 Wn.2d at 472-74. Lyons argues that the Court of Appeals erred by focusing on the work that its franchisees performed for it rather than on the franchise relationship itself, and that this error is a matter of substantial public interest. Pet. 7-12. Lyons's argument fails because both the Industrial Insurance Act and the case law show that the proper focus is on the essence of the work that an independent contractor performs under a contract rather than any labels that are used to describe the parties' relationship. RCW 51.08.180; Dana's Housekeeping, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 76 Wn. App. 600, 607, 886 P.2d 1147 (1995) (holding that essence of contract between Dana's and subcontractors was personal labor when the subcontractors provided cleaning services to the Dana's customers, and rejecting Dana's argument that essence of contract was "an agreement to accept referrals and share a fee").

1. The Proper Inquiry Is the Work Performed by the Franchisee

The Industrial Insurance Act requires every "employer" to secure workers' compensation coverage by insuring with the state (through premiums) or by self-insuring. RCW 51.14.010. Although the common law distinguishes "employees" and "independent contractors," the Industrial Insurance Act was amended in 1937 to expressly provide coverage for independent contractors who provide personal labor. RCW 51.08.180; see Norman v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 10 Wn.2d 180, 183, 116 P.2d 360 (1941).

Thus, the Industrial Insurance Act broadly defines both "worker" and "employer" to include independent contractors and those who hire them. An "employer" is any person or entity "all while engaged in this state in any work covered by the provisions of this title, by way of trade or business, or who contracts with one or more workers, the essence of which is the personal labor of such worker or workers." RCW 51.08.070 (emphasis added). The Legislature intended "to broaden the industrial insurance act, and bring under its protection independent contractors whose personal efforts constitute the main essential in accomplishing the objects of the employment, and this, regardless of who employed or contracted for the work." Norman, 10 Wn.2d at 184 (emphasis added).

The Legislature's mandate for broad coverage furthers the important goal, inherent in the Industrial Insurance Act, of liberally construing the Act in order to reduce to a minimum the suffering and economic hardship associated with workplace injuries. RCW 51.12.010.

In determining what the "essence" of a contract is, the court's focus is on "the essence of the work under the independent contract, not the characterization of the parties' relationship." *Dana's*, 76 Wn. App. at 607 (emphasis in original). Lyons's argument that the true essence of its contracts is the franchise relationship itself (Pet. 7-12) is indistinguishable from arguments that the Court of Appeals considered and rejected in *Dana's*. See *Dana's*, 76 Wn. App. at 607.

In *Dana's*, the putative employer, Dana's, entered into contracts with homeowners to provide cleaning services, and assigned one or more housecleaners, who it characterized as independent contractors, to the job. *Dana's*, 76 Wn. App. at 602-03. Customers would pay Dana's for the cleaning services, and Dana's would keep a percentage of the payment. *Id*. Dana's argued that the essence of its contracts with its housecleaners was "an agreement to accept referrals and share a fee" rather than the personal labor of the housecleaners. *Id*. at 607. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, explaining, "the 'essence' with which the statute is concerned is the essence of the work under the independent contract, not the

characterization of the parties' relationship." *Id.* (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals concluded that the essence of the work performed under the contracts—house cleaning services—was the personal labor of the housecleaners. *Id.*

Here, the relevant issue is the essence of the work performed by Lyons's franchisees under their independent contracts, not on how either Lyons or the franchisees characterize their relationship with each other. See Dana's, 76 Wn. App. at 607. The essence of the work performed under their cleaning contracts is the franchisees' personal labor: the manual labor necessary to provide janitorial services. See Dana's, 76 Wn. App. at 607.

Thus, the Court of Appeals here properly focused on the nature of the work that the franchisees performed for Lyons (janitorial cleaning work) rather than the labels that the parties attached to their relationship. Lyons, 347 P.3d at 471. This is consistent with the Industrial Insurance Act's broad extension of coverage to independent contractors whenever the essence of contract is personal labor. Lyons has not established that the Court of Appeals erred by focusing on the work that its franchisees perform for it when deciding whether its franchisees are its workers, let alone shown that this is an error relating to a matter of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review.

2. The Analysis Does Not Rest on the Type of Franchisee Contract

Lyons also suggests that, under the Court of Appeals' opinion, all franchisees that provide "services" rather than "goods" are covered workers. Pet. 9-10. However, nowhere did the Court of Appeals endorse that view in its opinion, and the Department expressly acknowledged in its answer to the amicus brief filed by the International Franchise Association that such a position would be overly simplistic, as questions of coverage under the Industrial Insurance Act are complex and inherently case-specific, and cannot be resolved by making a simple dichotomy between "goods" and "services." Answer To Amicus IFA at 12-14.

Lyons also erroneously claims that the Court of Appeals focused only on the cleaning contracts between Lyons and Lyons' customers rather than the franchise contracts between Lyons and the franchisees. Pet. 8. However, the Court of Appeals considered both the franchise agreements and the cleaning contracts themselves, and this is proper as both are relevant to the question of whether the franchisees are the workers of Lyons. *See, e.g., Lyons*, 347 Wn. App. at 471 (discussing both the franchise agreements and cleaning contracts). Lyons has shown no error.

3. RCW 51.08.070 Applies to Qualified Independent Contractors Regardless Whether They Are Sole Proprietors

Finally, raising an argument it did not present to the Court of Appeals, Lyons suggests that franchisees should be exempt based on RCW 51.12.020, which exempts sole proprietors and other business owners from mandatory coverage. Pet. at 11. This Court should not consider that argument because Lyons did not raise it below. See Pappas v. Hershberger, 85 Wn.2d 152, 153-54, 530 P.2d 642 (1975).

But, assuming this Court considers the argument, it fails, as it would render RCW 51.08.180's extension of coverage to independent contractors meaningless. Any individual who goes into business for him or herself automatically forms a sole proprietorship if he or she does not form another sort of business entity, such as a corporation. *See Dolby v. Worthy*, 141 Wn. App. 813, 173 P.3d 946 (2007). Thus, under Lyons's argument, any independent contractor who performed labor for an employer under a contract would automatically be exempt as the independent contractor would either be a sole proprietor or otherwise exempt under RCW 51.08.020. It is implausible that the Legislature intended for RCW 51.08.180 to have no legal effect. Lyons's novel argument does not warrant this Court's review.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With White Because White Did Not Hold That the Contractual Ability to Use Another to Perform the Work of the Contract Precluded Coverage

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Lyons's argument that the mere fact that Lyons's franchisees had the ability under their contract to use others to perform work prevented its franchisees from being Lyons's workers, whether the franchisees actually used any others to perform work or not. *Lyons*, 347 P.3d at 471-72. Lyons, however, contends that the opinion's rejection of its argument conflicts with *White*, insisting that, under *White*, the contractual ability to use another to perform work is enough to deprive an independent contractor of the protection of the Industrial Insurance Act. Pet. 14. However, it is Lyons's argument, not the opinion, that conflicts with *White*, and this Court need not grant review to consider Lyons's argument. *See White*, 48 Wn.2d at 472-73.

Under White, the mere fact that an independent contractor has the contractual ability to use another to perform work does not prevent coverage under the Industrial Insurance Act. See id. White sets a three-part test to determine if personal labor is the essence of a contract: personal labor is not the essence of the contract if the independent contractor (1) "must of necessity own or supply machinery or equipment (as distinguished from the usual hand tools)," (2) "obviously could not

perform the contract without assistance," or (3) "of necessity or choice *employs others* to do all or part of the work he [or she] has contracted to perform." *White*, 48 Wn.2d at 474 (emphasis added). Thus, under the third prong of *White*, an independent contractor is not covered if he or she *actually* "employs others" to do work, but the mere fact that the independent contractor *could* have assigned the work to another person without violating the contract does not defeat coverage under the Industrial Insurance Act. *White*, 48 Wn.2d at 474.

Indeed, the *White* Court expressly disavowed language that the Court had used in two of its earlier decisions, which had suggested, as Lyons argues here (Pet. 12-14), that the mere contractual ability to use another to perform work was enough to defeat coverage under the Industrial Insurance Act. *See id.* at 472-73 (expressing disagreement with *Crall v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 45 Wn.2d 497, 275 P.2d 903 (1954) and *Cook v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 46 Wn.2d 475, 282 P.2d 265 (1955)). *White* explained:

We are now convinced that the language in the *Crall* and *Cook* cases is too broad, and that the legislature in 1937, in adopting the section of the workmen's compensation act with which we are now concerned, had something more in mind than the protection in those extremely rare cases in which the party for whom the work is done requires the personal services of the independent contractor and is unwilling that any part of the work be done by someone else.

Id. at 473-74.

White unambiguously rejects the very proposition that Lyons says White stands for: namely, that the contractual ability to use another worker to perform part of the work of a contract defeats coverage under the Industrial Insurance Act even if the independent contractor actually performs all of the work under the contract. White, 48 Wn.2d at 473-74.

Furthermore, contrary to Lyons's argument (Pet. 12-14), neither Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. Department of Labor & Industries, 51 Wn. App. 159, 752 P.2d 381 (1988) nor Silliman v. Argus Services, Inc., 105 Wn. App. 232, 19 P.3d 428 (2001), stands for the proposition that the hypothetical ability to use another to perform work under a contract is sufficient to preclude an independent contractor from receiving the protection of the Industrial Insurance Act. See Silliman, 105 Wn. App. at 237 (holding that the security company was not a coworker of the individual who worked at a plant, because the security company used others to perform all work under its contract); Massachusetts Mutual, 51 Wn. App. at 164-65 (holding that the insurance agents were not covered workers because they "may and do" delegate their duties to others). In each of those cases, an independent contractor was not covered by the Industrial Insurance Act because he or she actually used others to perform

work, not because he or she could have done so but did not. *Silliman*, 105 Wn. App. at 237; *Massachusetts Mutual*, 51 Wn. App. at 164-65. The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with either case.

C. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That the Franchisees Are Not Exempt Under the Six Factor Test in RCW 51.08.195

The Court of Appeals properly declined to rule that Lyons's franchisees are exempt from coverage under RCW 51.08.195. Under RCW 51.08.195, an independent contractor is not covered if all six of a demanding set of criteria are met.

Under RCW 51.08.195(1), an independent contractor must be "free from control or direction over the performance of the service, both under the contract of service and in fact" (emphasis added). Under RCW 51.08.195(3), an independent contractor must either "be customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, profession, or business" or have a "principal place of business" that is "eligible for a business deduction for federal income tax purposes." Lyons's franchisees are neither "free from its direction or control" nor "customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, profession or business," and, therefore, they are not exempt from coverage under RCW 51.08.195.

Lyons seeks an exemption from the plain requirements of the statute. Lyons contends that any form of control that is a "traditional

element of a franchised business" does not constitute "control" for the purposes of RCW 51.08.195(1). Pet. 15-18. However, RCW 51.08.195(1) unambiguously provides that that criterion is met only when the independent contractor is "free" from direction and control; where control is exercised, RCW 51.08.195(1) is not met regardless of why an employer chose to exercise control over the independent contractor.

Furthermore, Lyons's characterization of the control it exercises as "non-supervisory" understates the extent of the control it exercises over its franchisees. Pet. 15. Lyons regularly audits its franchisees to ensure that the franchisees perform cleaning work that satisfies Lyons's expectations. CP 2173-74. Lyons owns all of the cleaning contracts with all of its customers, and it can reassign any contract from one franchisee to another at any time, with or without cause. CP 318, 1907-08, 1918. Lyons is required to find replacement work if it removes a franchisor from a contract without cause, but may do so within "a reasonable time" (CP 318), and the franchisee's income would be reduced or even eliminated in the meantime. The control Lyons exercises over its franchisees is "supervisory" by any reasonable standard.

The Court of Appeals concluded that Lyons's franchisees did not satisfy RCW 51.08.195(3) because they were not "customarily engaged" in an "independently established trade," as most of the franchisees had not

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